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Editor’s notes

outh Florida Historys mission is to recall, retell and
S explore historic events, people, places and themes
pertaining to southern Florida and the Caribbean. This
issue fulfills this purpose by presenting a broad scope of

articles, ranging from the development of Watson Island

and the symbolic meaning behind the Freedom Tower to
the architecture and the history of the black churches of Fort Lauderdale.

Learn about the various ideas and plans that were proposed throughout the years for
the development of Waston Island (page 14). Some plans were carried out,
others, like the island being host to the Pan American center or the creation of a “Science
City,” failed to reach fruition.

Read on to explore the new significance the Freedom Tower, once the Miami News
Building, acquired in its role as the processing center for Cuban émigrés in 1962 (page
20). Though its role as the Cuban Refugee Center ended in 1974, the Freedom Tower
remains a powerful symbol of hope and freedom to this day.

And finally, read a brief architectural and historical essay on the first seven historically
black churches of Fort Lauderdale (page 26). Each of these churches, serving as Beacons
of spiritual renewal and social sustenance for the city’s black residents, tells part of the
unique development and history of this city.

Enjoy!

J&MJ %ﬁ%

Note—If you or someone you know is interested in submitting an article or a book
review, please contact me at publications@historical-museum.org or 305.375.1492.
Submission deadlines for Vo. 32, No. 2, 2004 and Vo. 32, No. 2, 2004 are May 8 and
August 3, respectivelly. Your time, energy and thoughtfulness in submitting a contribu-
tion are greatly appreciated as we strive to spread an understanding of our region’s rich
past. I look forward to receiving your submission.
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Spotlight on...

Development

Audubon Bird To
Honor Pioneer Coujofe

by Marcia Kanner

Sisters Faith Adams Young and Sue Adams Andrews of
Tennessee, the latest members of 7he Flock, have dedicated
Audubon’s Roseate Tern to the memory of their parents, Faith
and Adam G. (Lep) Adams.

Born in Nashville in 1887, Adam G. Adams graduated
Vanderbilt University and came to Miami in 1924 where he pur-
sued a career in real estate. Adams was a charter member of the
Historical Association of Southern Florida and its president. An
ardent historian, Adams chaired the Florida Civil War Centennial
Commission, the board of the Florida Library and Historical
Commission, and was a director of the Florida Historical Society.
In a 1976 article for the Miami Herald, John Pennekamp called
Adams® one of Dade County’s foremost and ablest citizens.”

Faith Adams survived her husband by 18 years and continued
to live in Coral Gables where she and her husband built a home
in the mid 1920s. It was there that their two daughters were
reared. Faith shared her husband’s passion in South Florida his-
tory and remained active as a museum Fellow until her death at
94 in 1994. Her first love, though, was the theater. Though her
prominent Georgia parents disapproved, Faith performed with a
Toronto summer stock company before she married and dreamed
of appearing on the New York stage.

Raising children interrupted her acting career, but she recurned
to it as an amateur, performing at the University of Miami and
community theaters. Faith Adams also shared her husband’s con-

Roseate Tern by John James Audubon. HASE

cern for the environment, and lifelong interest in Florida birds.
She camped and bird-watched in the Everglades until the last
years of her life.

Proceeds of the sponsorship of Audubon birds go to the
Historical Museum’s endowment.—SFH

To learn more about the Historical Museum’s Audubon collection and how you can sponsor a bird and become a member of
The Flock, please contact Marcia Kanner at 305.375.1492 or e-mail endowment@historical-museum.org.

SOUTH FLORIDA HISTORY 5



Around tl 1€ galiCrices

HISTORICAL MUSEUM OF SOUTHERN FLORIDA

Miami-Dade Cultural Center, 101 West Flagler Street, Miami, 305.375.1492, www.historical-museum.org. Open seven
days a week, Monday-Saturday from 10 am to 5 pm; Third Thursday 10 am to 9 pm; Sunday noon to 5 pm. Closed
Thanksgiving, Christmas and New Year’s Day. Parking available at 50 N.W. 2nd Ave. Adults $5; Children 6-12 $2;

HMSF members and children (5 and under) FREE.

SPECIAL EXHIBITIONS

Shipwrecks and Rescues, 1550-2000

February 27 to June 6

The first exhibition to explore specific shipwrecks and sea rescues
around Florida’s coasts from 1550 to 2000. This one-of-a-kind
exhibit features fabulous artifacts salvaged from ships, maps, pho-
tographs and much more. Many activities for children including
boarding a life size boat with actual movement.

Maggie Steber: Haitian Photographs

February 27 to June 6 (Lobby Exhibition)

Internationally known freelance photojournalist and former
Director of Photography at The Miami Herald, Ms. Steber’s
award-winning photographs have been published in National
Geographic, Life, The New York Times, Newsweek, People and many
other American and European publications. As a tribute to Black
History Month, the Historical Museum of Southern Florida is
honored to display the powerful images captured by Maggie
Steber during one of her many assignments in Haiti.

SrECIAL EVENTS AND PROGRAMS

Third Thursday Evenings

Third Thursdays, 6-8:30 pm FREE

Historical Museum of Southern Florida

Join the Historical Museum for a fascinating series of panel

discussions organized in conjunction with Shipwrecks and
Rescues, 1550-2000.

March 18—Florida’s Underground Railroad: Flight by Sea
Chair—Dinizulu Gene Tinnie (Co-Director of the Dos Amigos/
Fair Rosamond Slave Ship Replica Project)

Panelists—Joan Blank (local historian, author of Key Biscayne and
Born of the Sun); Rosalyn Howard, PhD (author of Black
Seminoles in the Bahamas; Professor of Sociology and
Anthropology, University of Central Florida); Kristopher Smith
(founder of the Florida Underground Railroad Project); Gail
Swanson (Florida Keys historian, author of Documentation of the
Indians of the Florida Keys and Miami, 1513-1765)

April 15—Underwater Archaeology: South Florida Shipwrecks

Chair—Christopher Eck (Broward County Historic Preservation Officer)
Panelists—R. Duncan Mathewson 111, PhD (author of Treasure of
the Atocha and Archaeological Treasure: The Search for the Nuestra
Sefiora de Atocha; Director of the National Center for Shipwreck

Research); Della Scott-Ireton (Underwater Archaeologist for
Florida’s Bureau of Archaeological Research); Brenda Lanzendorf
(Archacologist/Cultural Resources Manager at Biscayne National Park)

Second Saturdays—Family Fun Days

1-4 pm FREE

Historical Museum of Southern Florida

Fun programs and activities in conjunction with the Historical
Museum’s exhibitions. An experience the entire family will enjoy!

March 13—Weather or Knot
Hear a Hurricane Andrew survival story and learn the art of

knot tying.

April 10—Gallery Hunt
Find clues during a scavenger hunt for the chance to win your
very own compass.

May 8—Haiti Turns 200!
Celebrate the Haitian Bicentennial with artist in residence.

Discovery Days—Plan ahead for Teacher Planning Days!
Fun for the kids and peace of mind for the parents. Bring your
kids to the Historical Museum for a fun-filled day of games, skits,
arts and crafts, music and storytelling.

March 26—Blackbeard & Buccaneers
Ahoy mateys of all ages! Kids will have a great time exploring and
learning about maritime legends and stories.

Historic TOURS WITH DR. PAUL GEORGE

Miami River Boat Tour

Saturday, March 13, 10 am

A favorite among locals and tourists alike! Take a relaxing cruise
along Miami’s own working river and discover the historic site of
a Tequesta village, three Spanish missions, slave plantations and
much more! HMSFE members $32. Non-Members $37.

Advance reservations required.

Ocean Drive Art Deco Walking Tour

Saturday, March 20, 10 am

Experience South Beach as never before and discover the amazing
collection of Art Deco architecture along Ocean Drive. Learn the
history behind the trendy hotels and view the Wolfsonian’s frozen
fountain. HMSF members $12. Non-members $17.
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CoLLIER COUNTY MUSEUM, 3301 Tamiami Trail East,
Naples—941.774.8476. The Collier County Museum explores
the people, places and everyday events that have shaped Collier
County’s heritage. The museum and four-acre historical park are

open Monday through Friday, 9.am—5 pm. Free.

THE ROAD

CLEWISTON

CLEWISTON MUSEUM, 112 South Commercio Street,
Clewiston—863.983.2870. The Clewiston Museum, founded
in 1984, is a growing museum, collecting and displaying items,
large and small, important and trivial, which reflect the past of
Clewiston and its surrounding area. The Clewiston Museum
is open 1-5 pm Tuesday through Saturday, with seasonal
adjustments. No admission fee is charged; however, donations
are encouraged.

Boca RATON HISTORICAL SOCIETY TOwN HALL,
71 N. Federal Highway, Boca Raton—561.395.6766. The
Boca Raton Historical Society operates a museum and gift shop
at the old town hall. Hours of operation are Tuesday through
Friday, 10 am—4 pm.

THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF PALM BEACH COUNTY,
139 North County Road, Suite 25, Palm Beach—
561.832.4164. A nonprofit membership organization devoted
to collecting and preserving archives and artifacts pertaining to
the history of Palm Beach County and Florida. Make local history
a part of your life and join as a member to help support this
effort. You will enjoy lectures and special events, discounts on
historical books and research fees. Office hours are Monday

through Friday. from 9 am—5 pm. Research hours are by appoint-
ment Tuesday through Thursday from 10 am-3 pm. ‘

The above institutions subscribe to South Florida History as a benefit for their members.

l Yesterday’s Visions for Sale

at the Historical Museum

of South Florida’s past are available to
adorn the walls of your home or place of business.

With more than one million

Call 305.375.1492, or stop by the
. Historical Museum’s Research Center for further details.

A treasure trove of revealing, dramatic and scenic photographs

photographs and postcards, there’s something for everyone.

SOUTH FLORIDA HISTORY 7



Assignment Miami:

News Photographers

by Stephen Stuempfle

On June 19, 2003, the Historical Museum of Southern Florida opened Assignment Miami: News
Photographers, an exhibition that will be on display through January 18, 2004. The exhibition is the first
ever to explore the history of newspaper
photography in Greater Miami. Since the
carly decades of the 20th century, news
photographers have played a central role in
documenting the life of the city and shap-
ing its image for local, national, and inter-
national audiences. Though their pho-
tographs have circulated widely, most of
the photojournalists themselves have
received limited recognition. Assignment
Miami pays tribute to several generations
of these individuals by presenting examples
of their best work. :
Visitors to the exhibition will have an
unparalleled opportunity to view the
remarkable range of images created over
the years by Miami’s news photographers.
Included are photographs of many of the
most dramatic events in the city’s history,
such as the 1926 hurricane, the attempted
assassination of President-elect Franklin
Roosevelt in 1933, the aftermath of the
Cuban Bay of Pigs invasion in 1961, the riot and refugee crises of 1980 and the Presidential election
Mizzoidy Perez, age 9, and Elidn Gonzdlez controversies of 2000. However, many of the images on display are of more com-
after being rescued monplace events that are typical of Miami. There are children at the beach, teenagers dancing at a
from her apartment quincefiera party, senior citizens resting in a hotel lobby, ladies trying on Easter hats at a Coconut Grove
by firefighters. church and a motorist waiting for a drawbridge to close over the Miami River. Some of the photographs
Randy Bazemore. capture moments of great tragedy: the family of a murdered man, screaming as they approach his body;
The Miami Herald. or a nine-year old girl, her haunted eyes fixed on the photographer, soon after being rescued by fire-
1986. Courtesy of fighters from her apartment. Other images record split seconds of triumph and joy: a University of
The Miami Herald. Miami cheerleader leaping in celebration of a football victory or ecstatic fans at a rock and roll concert
at Dinner Key Auditorium in 1956.
Work on Assignment Miami began in 2001, spearheaded by George Chillag, Exhibits Curator and
staff photographer at the Historical Museum. The museum established an advisory committee of
photojournalists and recruited two guest curators for the exhibition: Dr. Michael Carlebach, a



University of Miami expert on the history of photojournalism,
and Maggie Steber, an internationally acclaimed freelance pho-
tographer and past Director of Photography at The Miami
Herald. A grant from the Florida Division of Historical
Resources in 2002 enabled us to move ahead with the project.

The nucleus of the exhibition was the Miami News collection
of photographs in the Historical Museum’s Research Center.
This unique collection of over a half million images suggested
many possibilities for organizing an exhibition that would reveal
the development of newspaper photog-
raphy in Miami. The curatorial team
also obtained generous loans of pho-
tographs from several of the other old-
est news organizations operating in the
city, including The Miami Herald, The
Miami Times, and the Associated Press.

By the time of the exhibition open-
ing in June, the guest curators had
selected over 300 photographs by more
than 100 photographers. The curatorial
team was constantly impressed by the
exceptional quality of the photography
that Miami has inspired. If space would
have permitted, hundreds of other
excellent photographs could have been
chosen. The selected photographs are
exhibited in four major categories of
newspaper photography: spot news
(breaking news), general news, features
(daily life) and sports. In addition to
the featured photographs, the exhibi-
tion includes images of photographers
at work, examples of photographic
equipment from the 1930s to the pre-
sent and an interactive digital photo
editing system from the Herald. This
supplementary material provides a glimpse of the occupational
culture of news photographers.

Many themes run through the photographs displayed in
Assignment Miami. One is the constant tension between order

Courtesy of Battle Vaughan.

and disorder in the city. Some images portray the regularities
of civic life: appearances of public officials, parades or citizens
lining up to register to vote at the Dade County Courthouse
(in a photograph by Don Wright). Other photographs focus
on dramatic challenges to the civic order, such as Richard
Johnson’s shot of looters racing across a burning neighborhood
during the McDuffie riot of 1980. Police officers appear
frequently in the photographs, apprehending suspects or
displaying caches of guns and drugs. Many photographs
record accidents or breakdowns in the flow of urban life. For
example, Brian Smith captures a street scene in which a victim
is carried by her nephew, following the crash of a car into a
cafeteria. In contrast, other images of street life reveal the city
at ease. Albert Coya, for instance, shows Mohammad Ali

Miami Herald photographer Battle Vaughan and photo-
journalist Kathy Willens at the scene of a fire.

Photographer unknown. The Miami Herald. ca. 1980.

playfully sparring with bystanders outside the 5th Street Gym
on Miami Beach.

Another theme in the exhibited photographs is the dynamism
and hectic pace of the city. A number of photographs focus on

people arriving in Miami by various means of transportation.
There are images of dignitaries, such as Toby Massey’s shot of
President and Mrs. Kennedy walking away from a helicopter in
1962. Tourists appear, as well. A photograph by Michael O’Brien
shows a couple from Ohio in their car, the husband resting in the

k13 &t So

backseat. Some visitors to Miami are
welcomed graciously, such as the ele-
6v6 gant Brandford models, arriving by
plane to visit the Lord Calvert Hotel in
Overtown (in a photograph by Frank
Johnson). Andrew Innearity, on the
other hand, provides a view of Haitian
refugees after they were intercepted by
the U.S. Coast Guard.

Assignment  Miami, as a whole,
reflects the continuous change in
Miami over the past 75 years. This
is one of the great values of
photographs—their capacity to serve as
evidence of how a community appeared
at specific points in time. By studying
the more than 300 photographs in the
exhibition, visitors will be able to
obtain a broader perspective on their
own location in the city at the begin-
’ ning of the 21st century. In short, the
e ; . images offer a multitude of opportuni-
ties for reflection and debare about the
city that we have created.

In order to further encourage dia-
logue about Miamis history and its
visual record, the Historical Museum is
presenting, through January 2004, a series of programs on pho-
tojournalism. Panel discussions on Third Thursdays (7:00 — 8:30
p-m.) feature leading photojournalists and other specialists on
Miami’s visual history. Photography programs for families are
being held on Second Saturdays (1-4 pm). All of the programs
are free and open to the public. Through both the programs and
the exhibition itself, the Historical Museum hopes to stimulate
an expansion in the practice of documentary photography in
Miami and in the collection, study, and exhibition of documen-
tary photographs. Such activities will sharpen our perceptions of
Miami and help us to better understand the complexities of this
constantly evolving city.—SFH

To order a copy of the catalog for Assignment Miami, contact
the Historical Museum store at 305. 375.1492.
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Raul Valdes carries his aunt, Carmen Medero, to an ambulance, after she was injured when a car crashed into a cafeteria at the corner of N.W. 36th Street and

2nd Avenue. Brian Smith. The Miami Herald. 1988. Courtesy of The Miami Herald.

o
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Mohammad Ali outside the 5th Street Gym on Miami Beach. Albert Coya. The Miami Herald. 1977. Courtesy of The Miami Herald.
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A long line in front of the Dade County Courthouse on the last day of voter registration. Don Wright. 7he Miami News. 1956

Historical Museum of Southern Florida, Miami News Collection. 1995-277-5044

Looters carrying furniture on N.W. 56th Street during the McDuffie riot. Richard Johnson. 7he Miami Herald. 1980. Courtesy of The Miami Herald.
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President John E. Kennedy walks away from an Army helicopter, followed by First Lady Jacqueline Kennedy, Press Secretary Pierre Salinger (left), and Miami
Mayor Robert King High. Kennedy later addressed 20,000 spectators at the Orange Bowl in recognition of the 2506 Brigade, veterans of the Bay of Pigs invasion.

Toby Massey. The Miami News. 1962. Historical Museum of Southern Florida, Miami News Collection. 1989-011-4469.

Ida Lower crochets while her husband, Richard Lower, sleeps in the back seat of their car. They are visiting Miami from Galion, Ohio. Michael O’Brien.
The Miami News. 1970s. Historical Museum of Southern Florida, Miami News Collection. 1989-011-16354.
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Brandford models arrive for a visit to the Lord Calvert Hotel in Overtown. Frank Johnson. 7he Miami Times. ca. 1960. Courtesy of The Miami Times.

After a U.S. Coast Guard pre-dawn interception, these Haitians aboard a freighter were taken ashore and given blankets, before being sent to the

Krome Detention Center. Andrew Innerarity. The Miami Herald. 1993. Courtesy of The Miami Herald.
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Conceptual drawings for a proposed Watson Island
Park on Watson Island, 1978. Clockwise, top left to
right—View of Watson Island Yacht Marina. HASF
95-277-9378. Northeast view of the “Old Florida”
Amusement Area. HASF 1995-277-9382. Northwest
view of the Caribbean International Village &
Florida Lighthouse Tower. HASF 1993-277-9385.
Section view of “Flagler Railroad and Old Florida
Scenic Ride.” HASF 1995-277-9384. Northwest view of
Watson Island Park Main Entrance & Japanese

Garden. HASF 1995-277-9380.
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tson Island

frer decades of dormancy, the 86 acre Watson Island, located in Biscayne Bay
between the cities of Miami and Miami Beach, is booming. In 2003, both the
Parrot Jungle Island, for decades one of the area’s premier tourist attractions,
along with the Miami Children’s Museum, opened sparkling new facilities on the
island. Coming soon is a mega-yacht basin
on the island’s west flank, a nearby market,
and, perhaps, two condominium towers.
Before there was a Watson Island, there
was a City of Miami, which incorporated
in July 1896; the nascent city’s corporate
borders on the east stretched more than
one mile into Biscayne Bay. Three miles
farther east stood the future Miami Beach,
at the time a windswept peninsula virtually
bereft of residents. The first bridge to cross
the waters of beautiful Biscayne Bay and
connect mainland Miami with today’s city
of Miami Beach was the Collins Bridge,
completed in 1913. Billed as the “world’s
longest wooden bridge,” the Collins Bridge
stood less than one mile north of today’s
Watson Island where the right-of-way
exists for today’s Venetian Causeway.
Between 1916 and 1920, the County
Causeway, also known as the “Million
Dollar Causeway,” (although its construc-
tion costs barely exceeded $625,000), was
completed. Later called the MacArthur
Causeway for the American World War II hero, General Douglas MacArthur, the span
became the second link between Miami, the Magic City, and the newly incorporated
municipality of Miami Beach. In the meantime, the city created, through federal

by Dr. Paul George

In the 1930s, Goodyear Tires blimp base, which

operated on the western sector of the island,

became Watson Island’s most visible tenant, April

1934. HASE Miami News Collection 89-011-2314.
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funding, a deep-water channel called the Government Cut, run-
ning from the Port of Miami, located along Miami’s waterfront
north of Northeast Sixth Street out to the deep waters of the
Adantic Ocean. In subsequent years, additional dredging of the
deep-water channel led to the creation of several spoil islands
known collectively as Dodge Islands. It was upon the enlarged
versions of the Dodge Islands that a new Port of Miami opened
in the 1960s.

In the summer of 1931, another episode of channel dredging,
along with the deepening of the turn basin located northwest of
the Dodge Islands, led to the creation of the future Watson Island
from the pile of dirt dredged from the shallow bay bottom.
Known initially as Causeway Island, the nascent island straddled
both sides of the southern bend of the County Causeway. Its land
mass represented only a portion of today’s Watson Island.

After the island’s creation, Miami officials considered using it as
an exposition area where American manufacturers could display
their products to Latin American visitors and businessmen, since
the city was already welcoming many persons from the southern
reaches of the hemisphere. This idea, however, came to naught;
instead, in the 1930s, which mark the years of the Great
Depression, the island hosted temporary visitors like a lion and
tiger training act, as well as one long-term “resident,” a Goodyear
Tires blimp base. The Goodyear blimp, which operated from a base
in the western sector of Causeway Island, became its most visible
tenant until 1979, when the blimp departed Watson Island, fol-
lowing a lease dispute, for the friendlier confines of Pompano
Beach. A few years later, the Chalk Seaplane base, founded by Papy
Chalk in 1919 at the foot of East Flagler Street and Biscayne Bay,
moved its operations to the southwestern edge of the island.

In 1948, the Miami Yacht Club became an occupant of the eastern sector of the island, pre-1974. HASE Miami News Collection 89-011-18002.
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In 1961, the Florida road department completed construction of new spans on the western and eastern ends of the MacArthur Causeway, 1961. HASE Miami News

Collection 89-011-2327.

After the conclusion of World War II in 1945, plans for the
island centered again around the creation of a Pan American
center. Again, however, the idea failed to reach fruition, although
many other proposals for the island emerged. One Miami city
commissioner proposed building a “sports palace” there, while
the city’s yacht basin director lobbied to move all of the charter
boats, sightseeing craft and excursion boats away from the bay
front and eastward to the island. Neither idea advanced beyond
the discussion stage. In 1948, Causeway Island acquired two
additional long term occupants: the Miami Yacht Club and the
Miami Outboard Club, each of which signed lengthy leases for
portions of the eastern sector of the island.

In 1949, the City of Miami received the deed to the island
from the State of Florida, which had, until then, held bay bot-
tom rights, with the stipulation that “said lands shall be used

solely for public purpose.” Soon after, Watson Island became
the new moniker for the Causeway Island. The name honored
John Watson Sr., an early mayor of Miami, a member of the
Florida State Legislature, and a leader of the first motorcade to
cross the Collins Bridge upon its opening; it also honored John
Watson’s son, John Jr., a longtime city attorney who served 17
mayors and 11 city managers. Even with the name change, the
schemes for the island’s development, then consisting of about
45 acres, continued. In 1951, a group of investors proposed
the creation of an aquarium, along with shops, restaurants and
a tavern on the spit of former bay bottom. While this scheme
went nowhere, the idea of creating an island park was gaining
increasing support. One city commissioner even proposed
planting a hibiscus garden throughout the island. His motion
failed, but the proposal may have catalyzed a slight name

SOUTH FLORIDA HISTORY 17



change for the island, since the land now became known as
Watson Park.

On the heels of the failed aquarium idea came a new proposal
calling for the creation of a “Science City,” to be comprised of
central exhibit buildings leased to large companies such as
General Motors, for permanent exhibits of a scientific or indus-
trial nature. While the city commission was strongly supportive
of the concept, it failed because of the deed restrictions on the
use of that public land.

By the mid-1950s, the city commission approved the con-
struction of a helicopter port in the center of the island, while
additional schemes continued to be unveiled. But it was the
Florida road department’s turn to alter the island/park, when, in
1956, it commenced construction (completed in 1961) of new
spans on the western and eastern ends of the MacArthur
Causeway. The construction of the new western bridge led to a
re-routing of traffic through the island. Where traffic had

Y 2

Aerial view of the Japanese Garden, pre 1974. HASE Miami News Collection 89-011-18001.

formerly swept along the southwestern edges of Watson Park, as
it was now commonly known, it was now routed over a new road
running through its center (today, 88,000 cars race back and
forth through the island each day!).

In the mid-1950s, the city unveiled a master plan for develop-
ment of the park. The plan included a dockage area for cruise
ships on its western edge, a large marina with six finger docks on
the northern fringe, maritime shopping center, a public boat
launching area on its eastern edge and a large park centrally locat-
ed, in addition to the organizations already there. Although only
a portion of the plan was implemented, another development in
that era radically transformed the appearance of the eastern half

18

of the island. Kiyoshi Ichimura, a Tokyo industrialist, became
enamored of Miami after a visit in the mid-1950s and created,
with the enthusiastic support of the city, a San-Ai-An Japanese
Garden on several acres on the barren eastern half of the island.
Beginning in the late 1950s, Ichimura began sending dismantled
objects and materials from Tokyo, along with six carpenters, three
gardeners, and Kingo Sakamoro, Japan’s premier landscape archi-
tect. Sakamoto designed the garden and supervised nearly 100
city workers who helped construct it. The park included an
eight-ton granite statue of Hotei, the smiling, chubby Japanese
god of prosperity and longevity, a lagoon with water cascading
into it from irregular rocks placed above, a 13-tier stone pagoda
weighing almost five tons, and an ornate ceremonial teahouse
made of flawless bamboo, cedar and pine. Standing out from the
many trees studding the garden were beautiful Hong Kong
orchids imported from the East. Dedicated in 1961, the gardens
represented the loveliest portion of Watson Island in the ensuing
two decades before falling into disrepair
and closing.

In the meantime, plans continued to be
unveiled for Watson Island. None, however,
was implemented. Among the bevy of
schemes were those calling for a theme park
with a performance hall, restaurants and
shops; an 850-foot space needle; a 300 slip
marina and a 300 room resort hotel; huge
marine exposition center; statue of
Christopher Columbus to stand one foot
taller than the Statue of Liberty; performing
arts center; and additional hotels, restau-
rants, theme parks and marinas. As Miami
Herald columnist Geoffrey Tomb noted in .
1996, Watson Island “has been the focus of
more plans than any other single piece of
land in South Florida. Scores of ideas have
been drummed up. Some happened and
died. Most never happened. Many are still
being proposed.”

Today, Watson Island is finally fulfilling
its rich potential as a premier water-oriented
venue with a stunning 360 degree view of
the magical waters and municipalities of
Miami-Dade County. Along with other elements of the center city,
abandoned decades ago by the rush to suburbia, Watson Island, the
Omni area, and other portions of the city’s attractive bay front are
making a notable comeback. The Miami of tomorrow has begun to
emerge, and as this process continues, it will result in a significantly
different city from that of the recent past. The redevelopment of
Watson Island, a critical link between two notable municipalities,
represents a key component of this picture.—SFH

Dr. Paul S. George, a professor at Miami Dade College, is the Historical Museum of

Southern Florida’s historian.




Clockwise, top left to right—Tom Koide, a U.S.
representative of Tokyo industrialist K. Ichimura
who is donating material for the Japanese Garden
and Kingo Sakamoto, leading Japanese landscape
architect. Pre 1974. HASF 95-277-9528. Vice Mayor
Balaban and Japanese Mayor Arakane stand next
to the statue of Hotei, a Japanese deity of happiness
and prosperity, near the entrance to the gardens.
HASE Miami News Collection 95-277-9386. Garden statue,
1968. HASE Miami News Collection 89-011-17993. A planted
lagoon. HASE Miami News Collection 89-011-17991. A
Japanese Pagoda, a gift from Japan. HASE Miami News
Collection 89-011-18006. A lily Pond, HASE Miami News
Collection 89-011-18004. Center—Visitors outside the
authentic Japanese teahouse. HASE, Miami News

Collection 95-277-9557.
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The illuminated tower of the Miami News Building welcomed thousands beginning their new

life in the United States. Courtesy of Raul Rodriguez.

Phats %9% o« Name?

For Hundreds of Thousands of Cuban Exiles, Miami’s
ngﬂeea/ad% %}6 Meant Hope and the Beginning of a New Destiny

by Ellen J. Uguccioni
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For many Americans, the perception of symbol is frequently lost
to the literal. Objects transcend the literal when they are associ-
ated with a greater reality. Think of the associations we conjure
when viewing the American flag, the Vietham Memorial or the
Liberty Bell. Perhaps America’s greatest symbol is the Statue of
Liberty in New York Harbor, an image that speaks to democracy’s
limitless magnanimity in assisting the oppressed with the
promise of opportunity for all. For hundreds of thousands of
Cuban citizens, the Freedom Tower would take on that powerful
status of symbol in its role as a Cuban Refugee Center opened in
1962. The epic story of the Cuban exodus is remarkable in many
ways. One of those was in the way United States’ policy
addressed this unprecedented phenomenon.

A Brief History of Immigration

Immigration to the United States reached epic proportions in the
late 19th and early 20th century. On the east coast, the Port of
New York received the largest number of immigrants from all
over the world. In 1890 the federal government selected Ellis
Island as the Federal Immigration Center for New York.
Opening in January 1892, the center processed thousands of
refugees who received medical exams and travel assistance. The
peak period for Ellis Island was between 1892 and 1924 when
some 12 million immigrants came into the country. By 1924, the
government passed the National Origins Act that severely
restricted the numbers of immigrants admitted. As the numbers
of immigrants slowed, the need for the facility dwindled. During
World War 11, the facilities were used as a detention center for
enemy aliens. In 1954, the doors were closed permanently.

On the west coast, the United States Immigration Station on
Angel Island served as the point of entry for Asians from 1910
until 1940. The island was the largest in the San Francisco Bay,
and originally served as a military installation. In 1908, con-
struction began on the immigration facilities that included an
administration building, detention barracks, hospital, power-
house and wharf. Chinese immigrants were detained at Angel
Island in a prison-like environment while awaiting permission to
enter the United States. Unlike the European immigrants who
entered the country through Ellis Island, with the passage of the
Chinese Exclusion Act of 1882, the Chinese were prohibited
from becoming citizens. The only exceptions allowed were for
diplomats, travelers, ministers, students and children of citizens.
Upon their arrival in San Francisco, whites, Japanese and other
Asian immigrants were separated from the Chinese.

Angel Island Immigration Station closed in 1940, but during
World War II it was used as a prisoner of war camp. Between
1942 and 1946 the facilities housed German, Italian and
Japanese prisoners of war. The Army declared the facility surplus
in 1946.

The Politics of Exile

The world still resonates from the startling political development
that occurred in Cuba more than 40 years ago. Cuba was once
the playground of Americans who visited its pristine beaches,

enjoyed its storied history and invested in hotels and agricultural
pursuits. In the early 1950s, a young rebel, Fidel Alejandro
Castro Ruz, would begin his rhetorical war with then dictator
Fulgencio Batista, a war that would soon escalate to physical vio-
lence and eventually overthrow the Batista regime. Along with
Argentinean revolutionary Ernesto “Che” Guevara, Castro
would lead a revolution that
ended with his ascension to
power in 1959, during the
presidency of Dwight D.
Surprisingly,
the revolution did not merit
the front page of the Miami
Herald

though its consequences

Eisenhower.

newspaper even

would change the face of
Miami forever.

Castro sought a normal-
ization of affairs with the
United States in April 1959,
but Eisenhower refused.
Before long, Castro began
a reign of terror and
aligned himself with the
party. He

Monsignor Bryan O. Walsh was instru-

Communist
seized the assets of the

mental in the Cuban refugee relief effort
of the 1960s. HASF 1995-277-17446.
wealthy and expropriated

lands and businesses. Droves of upper and middle class Cubans,
fearing violence, imprisonment or worse, fled the country leav-
ing their possessions behind. They never doubted that they
would soon return to their homeland after Castro was ousted
from power. The Cuban people thought of themselves as exiles,
not immigrants, as did the United States government, an(f that
distinction would powerfully influence the government’s policies
and conduct in assisting their resettlement.

Castro’s government began a campaign to rid the island of any-
one who did not support his ideologies. Thousands were impris-
oned, and reports claimed that as many as 10,000 were executed.
An unprecedented exodus followed that would test the mettle of
Americans who provided shelter and the fortitude of the Cuban
people who were to begin a new life, many with nothing left. The
number of émigrés to the United States was estimated at 62,000
in 1960; 67,000 in 1961 and 66,000 in 1962. The federal
government was not yet prepared to deal with either the short- or
long-term consequences of the exodus.

Given that Miami was geographically close, possessed the
same climate and had been the vacation destination for scores
of Cubans in the pre-Castro days, the city became the major
port of entry for the exiles. Before the arrival of federal aid, the
Catholic Church became the leader in the Cuban relief effort.
In 1959, Bishop Coleman Carroll established the Centro
Hispano Catdlico, located in a wing of the Gesu Church in
downtown Miami. Monsignor Bryan Walsh, then a young
priest, was instrumental in these humanitarian efforts. He
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characterized the arriving émigrés in this way: “They are
simply destitute, and these are the people who were people of

substance in Cuba.”

CI ash Pilol Misses Houses 5*****

FINAL
TH E M IAMI NEWS Closing

Markels

STORY IN COL.

THE KESI NEWSPAPER [ NIER

Hellcopfer Edition

Extablished In 1096 ¥R 4621l

Old News Tower Leased I
For Cuban Refugee Workers

—— | Quarters
| For GSA
By July 1

Top—The Miami News Building under construction. Designed by New York
architects Schultze and Weaver, the building rose to the height of 15 stories.
Above—This edition of the Miami News published on April 19, 1962 announced

the renaming of the building as the Freedom Tower. Courtesy of Howard Kleinberg.

As conditions in Cuba worsened, it soon became clear that
federal assistance was needed. Florida’s Governor LeRoy Collins
appealed to President Eisenhower who immediately released
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$1 million in disaster relief. In making those funds available,
Eisenhower acknowledged that Cuba was a communist state and
that the arriving Cubans were considered political refugees. He
was following the Truman Doctrine, which emphatically stated
that the United States would support “free people resisting aggres-
sion from without and within.”

The government provided rent subsidies of between $80 and
$100 a month so that refugees could find housing. The subsidy
actually facilitated the creation of “Little Havana” in an aging
Miami neighborhood once known as Riverside. The first federally
funded assistance center was set up in this area at Southwest 12th
Avenue and Coral Way.

A unique immigration policy was established during the
Eisenhower administration. By relaxing immigration quotas, the
administration “bent the rules.” The situation warranted this
approach as this was the first time that the United States became
the country of first asylum for such a large group of refugees. This
immigration policy was, in any event, just a temporary solution,
as both the U.S. government and the refugees fully expected
Castro’s hold on power to be short lived.

Following his election in 1961, President Kennedy sent
Abraham Ribicoff, Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare,
to Miami in order to evaluate the situation firsthand. Federal aid
was immediately increased and included provision for such addi-
tional services as health services, job training and surplus food
distribution as well as monthly relief checks.

On July 1, 1962, the General Services Administration leased
the first four floors of the former Miami News Building at 600
Biscayne Blvd., soon to be renamed “The Freedom Tower, and for
the émigrés themselves “El Refugio.” The Miami News Building
was already considered remarkable in its first incarnation as a
newspaper. plant. ’
The Miami News Building
The Miami Metropolis was first published on May 15, 1896, as a
weekly. Former governor of Ohio and the 1920 Democratic Party
presidential candidate James M. Cox purchased the paper in
1923 and changed its name to the Miami Daily News and
Metropolis. In 1924 Cox commissioned the New York architec-
tural firm of Schultze and Weaver to design his building housing
the offices and the printing presses for the paper.

The architectural firm of Leonard Schultze and S. Fullerton
Weaver was no stranger to the South Florida scene. They simul-
taneously designed the Miami News Building, the 1925 Roney
Plaza Hotel in Miami Beach (demolished 1968), and the
Miami-Biltmore Hotel in Coral Gables (designed in late 1924,
opened in January 1926.) For each of these buildings, the
architects chose as the focal point of their design, a tower struc-
ture that was modeled after the 16¢th century Giralda Tower of the
Cathedral of Seville, giving the buildings a strong sense of
historicism with a decidedly Spanish flavor.

Begun in June 1924, the Miami News Building with its 17
stories rising to a height of 283 feet soared over the skyline of
boom-time Miami. When it opened on July 26, 1925, the Miami
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News printed a special edition of the paper containing 504 pages
and weighing a whopping seven and one-half pounds. As the year
1925 proved to be the zenith of the Florida Real Estate Boom, the
advertisements for goods and services along with the hundreds of
real estate offerings fully justified a paper that huge. With the end
of the Boom and subsequent Depression, the Miami News
weathered the storm and occupied their building on Biscayne
Boulevard until 1957, when they moved to new quarters.

El Refugio

In simple gold letters, the building at 600 Biscayne Blvd. was
identified as “ The Freedom Tower.” Lines of Cuban émigrés
snaked around the building waiting their turn at achieving
self-sufficiency in the United States. At the Freedom Tower
immigrants were furnished with identification cards and inter-
viewed to determine their strengths along with their needs. The
first through fourth floors were used for processing at a series of
different stations.

The new émigrés were given a medical examination, checked
for tuberculosis and inoculated. Those found seriously ill were
transferred to either the Gesu Medical Clinic or Jackson
Memorial Hospital. Surplus foods like canned meat, peanut
butter and cheese were distributed to augment financial means.

Volunteer agencies interviewed the new arrivals to arrange for
resettlement outside of Miami. The resettlement effort was a
major program of El Refugio. While the federal government
insisted that there be no “forced” resettlement, the Miami com-
munity could simply not accommodate the number of Cubans
entering the country. Lists of job offers were maintained, and the
government attempted to send at least four families to the same
location so that they avoided the feeling of isolation.

In 1974, the federal government closed The Freedom Tower as
they phased out the Cuban Refugee Program, having spent $957
million in the effort. Even while the government program ended,
thousands more would come in the next three decades, many
risking their lives to find a new way of life in a new country.
Though its role as The Freedom Tower ended, it remains a pow-
erful symbol of the indomitable spirit of a people whose most
important possession is freedom.—SFH

Architectural Historian Ellen . Uguccioni is the retired Director of the City of Coral
Gables Historic Preservation Department and presently an historic preservation plan-
ner with Janus Research. She is currently a member of the Florida Historical
Commission, a Trustee of the Historical Museum of Southern Florida, and a Trustee

and Secretary for the Florida Trust for Historic Preservation.

Top right—A line of Cuban émigrés snakes around the Freedom Tower as they
await assistance. Courtesy of Howard Kleinberg. Bottom right—This magnificat

portal led to the four floors of assistance workers inside. HASH 1981-99-74.
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Freedom Tower/Miami News Tower

A new Museum?

An opportunity currently exists for the public acquisition and operation of one of the most
historically significant buildings that graces the Miami waterfront landscape. The Historical
Museum of Southern Florida has been engaged in conversations with Miami-Dade County
leadership and the Mas family, current owners of the property, about use of the proposed General
Obligation Bond (G.O.B.) program funds for Miami-Dade County to acquire the Tower and the
Historical Museum to occupy and operate it as a premier interpretative center for Miami’s history.
The County, in a similar bond issue, purchased the Vizcaya property in 1952.

The building was built as the headquarters of the Miami Daily News and Metropolis and first
occupied on July 26, 1925, and continued in that role until September of 1957. It sat idle until
1962 when the U.S. General Services Administration used it as the Cuban Refugee Center until
it closed in 1974. The building went through several transitions until the Mas family purchased
it in 1997 and started the restoration.

On September 9, 2004, the Board of County Commissioners identified the Freedom Tower /
Miami News Tower, along with the proposed new museums for Art and Science, as appropriate
venues for use of the proposed $1.5 billion G.O.B, which are much needed in our rapidly expand-
ing area. The G.O.B. issue will be presented to the voters of Miami-Dade County in November
of 2004.

The Historical Museum, along with other community leaders, believes that the Tower has sig-
nificant historic, symbolic and landmark value that is of major importance to our past, present
and future populations. The building, which has been restored, currently stands idle, waiting for
program use. The extensive multi-year restoration utilized the recognized talents of former
Historical Museum Chair, architect Raul Rodriguez. Because of this prior work, the time and
public dollars needed to acquire and turn this unique Miami building into a world-class museum
could be achieved at a fraction of the cost of new construction. This would be a most efficient
use of public money. This is truly a project deserving public and private support to benefit our
entire community.

The Historical Museum is committed to fulfilling its mission for our community by providing
the best possible facilities and programs available to interpret, preserve and share with our resi-
dents and visitors the rich history of our region. If the Tower acquisition does not emerge as an
option, we will continue to look for new or improved facilities to provide the kind of historical

programming that our world-class community deserves.




Right—The Freedom Tower. Courtesy of Raul Rodriguez.
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Preserving the

O U L

A brief architectural, historical and pictorial essay on the
first seven historically black churches of Fort Lauderdale

by Christopher R. Eck

The steeple of the Mount Hermon A.M.E. Church is a testament to the stark modernist geometry of the early 1960s. All photographs

courtesy of Christopher R. Eck.
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FOR A CENTURY, through pioneer deprivations, segregation,
hurricanes and floods, urban blight and renewal, a core of reli-
gious institutions has helped to nurture and sustain the
African-American community in northwest Fort Lauderdale.
Seven churches—Iike the seven biblical churches described by
Saint John in the New Testament—have served as beacons of
spiritual renewal and social sustenance for the needs of the
city’s black residents.

Each of these seven churches—the Fifth Avenue Church of
God, Mount African
Methodist Episcopal, Mount Olive
Baptist, Piney Grove First Baptist,

Hermon

Saint Christopher Episcopal, Saint
John’s United Methodist, and Saint
Luke Baptist—first planted roots in
the city between 1904 and 1925.
Through 100 years, at times alterna-
tively struggling and thriving, these
seven congregations have survived.

This article presents a brief vignette
of each of these remarkable institutions
which are near to the heart of many of
the city’s black residents. The several
photographs presented here were taken
in a single afternoon; a day of mixed
clouds and sunshine perhaps reflecting
both the stormy and clear times that
they have endured. They each present a
glimpse of the front fagade or steeple
representing the hopes of those that
enter these hallowed edifices that their
prayers aspire heavenward.

black residents.

Piney Grove First Baptist Church,

400 N.W. 12th Ave.

Piney Grove is the most venerable of all of the churches repre-
sented here and the second oldest church (either black or white)
in the city. Founded in 1904 as a “mission” church by the
Reverend B.E Goodwin of Lemon City, its original congregation
was comprised of only 11 members. Before the first permanent
church could be built, one of the city’s white founders, Thomas
M. Bryan, allowed the members to meet in the white school
house while the first church building was constructed. Today, the
present building—a modernist interpretation of a traditional
ecclesiastical form with a central nave, bell tower, and a mul-
lioned “rose” window over the arched main entrance completed
in 1951 at a cost of $90,000—remains an important cornerstone
of social activity within the city.

Mount Hermon African Methodist Episcopal (AME)
Church, 401 N.W. 7th Terr.
Mount Hermon is the second oldest black church in Fort
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Seven churches—

like the seven biblical churches

the New Testament—have
served as beacons of spiritual

renewal and social sustenance

for the needs of the city’s

Lauderdale and was established in 1911. The first pastor was
the Reverend James H. Haines, who also shared his ministry as
head of another church in Pompano Beach. Mount Hermon’s
ministers were active in the young city, which had only been
incorporated in 1911, and the county, which was created by
the legislature in 1915 from northern Dade County and south-
ern Palm Beach County. Rev. Haines, for instance, received the
sixth hunting license issued in the county in 1915 and another
pastor, the Reverend Lawrence A. Forbes, was among the earli-
est black residents in the city regis-
tered to vote, which he did in 1916.
The present church building—a large
but starkly unadorned modernist
masonry structure built in 1962—has
a tall, stacked pedestal steeple capped
by a small concrete cross.

described by Saint John in

Saint Christopher Episcopal
Church, 318 N.W. 6th Ave.

In 1913, Saint Christopher’s was the
third of these seven churches to be
organized and it was the second
Episcopal church formed in Fort
Lauderdale, the white parish of All
Saint’s having been formed in 1912.
Of the seven churches discussed here,
however, Saint Christopher’s is the
oldest congregation to have its house
of worship still remain on its original
location. Started by five Bahamian
families in a converted three-room |
wooden house, the first church stood
on the present site until the great hur-
ricane of 1926 destroyed it like so
many other South Florida buildings. The current church, a
small and simple adaptation of a Gothic Revival design con-
structed of rusticated concrete blocks with small protruding
side buttresses, was built in 1927 and is the oldest, largely orig-
inal church building of this group that remains in continuous
use. Pictured here, the entrance to the church is topped by a
small concrete cross at the peak of a low parapet above a mul-
lioned “rose” window.

Saint John’s United Methodist Church,

1520 N.W. 5th St.

Formed by 1918 as an African Methodist Episcopal congrega-
tion, the exact founding date of Saint John’s has not been
determined, but it seems to have been the fourth church orga-
nized just shortly before that of Mount Olive Baptist Church.
The pastor in 1918 was the Reverend Jacob J. Johnson. The
present church location on Northwest 5th Street is the third
location for its membership in over 85 years. Built about 1965
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The American flag flutters over the arched front entranceway

to Piney Grove, the city's oldest black congregation.

Looking southeast toward the front facade of Saint Christopher's, the oldest
black church building in continuous use in Fort Lauderdale.
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The nearly 40-year old cross tower of Saint John's
United Methodist Church, flanked by palm trees and built of decorative cast
concrete blocks, is of a thoroughly “Florida Modern” design.

Looking heavenward from one of two Gothic Revival bell
towers of the Church of God Temple.




under the pastorate of Reverend Clarence Banks, the architec-
ture of the structure has a plain, institutional modernist design
with masonry walls of a modest height and awning windows.
Its most unique element is its cross tower, which is offset to the
west elevation and constructed of stacked and pierced cast con-
crete bricks of an open cruciform design with an unadorned
metal cross attached to the exterior wall of the tower’s north
wall that extends several feet over the top.

Greater New Mount Olive Baptist Church,
400 N.W. 9th Ave.

On November 25, 1918, the Reverend
Gabriel T. Green became the first pas-
tor of Mount Olive Baptist Church,
the fifth church in the northwest com-
munity. Like the other nearby church
congregations, it had a small number of
members and its first humble buildings
were destroyed by hurricanes in 1926
and 1928. In 1929, a larger third
church was built of rusticated concrete
blocks and had several additions to it
through 1961 as church membership
increased rapidly as the city grew. The
largest church of the group in total
membership, in 1979, the current
church building was built across the
street from the old church under the
direction of its pastor, the Reverend
George E. Weaver, at a cost of about
$1.2 million. The picture taken here is
of the late afternoon sun setting through the old church’s open-
metal steeple on its southeast corner. The aluminum steeple has
a repeated grapevine motif and is a strikingly beautful mid-century
addition to the older structure and one of the most interesting
architectural features of any building in the city.

Church of God Temple,

211 N.W. 5th Ave.

Established by 1925, the existing church building has been on
this same location since at least 1928 and is the second oldest
church site location remaining in continuous use after its
block neighbor, Saint Christopher’s. For much of the first 30
years of the church, the congregation was led by the Reverend
John Henry Curry, a Bahamian who became a naturalized
American citizen in 1938 and who died in 1955. Beatrice
Curry, the minister’s wife, was a nurse at Provident Hospital,
the first black hospital in Fort Lauderdale. A 1928 Sanborn
fire insurance map of this block cites both this establishment
and St. Christopher’s to the north as having no heat, lights or
electricity. With additions over the years, the church building
is a modified masonry vernacular interpretation of more tradi-

Each [church] tells part of
the unique development
and history of Fort Lauderdale,
South Florida and the
black community over the

past 100 years.

tional Gothic Revival form including twin front facade recti-
linear bell towers.

Saint Luke Baptist Church,

210 N.W. 6th Ave.

The last of the seven churches to form about 1925, Saint Luke’s
remains today modest in both the size of its structure and its
total membership. The first pastor of the church in the 1920s
seems to have been the Reverend Alfred Harris. Because of the
small size of the congregation, listings for the church periodi-
cally fall out of the city directories for the 1920s and 1930s.
The church seems to have stabilized
enough by the early 1940s that the
present building was constructed
about 1941. One story in design and
built of stuccoed masonry, it has little
architectural embellishment other
than vestigial buttresses and a small
concrete “‘eyebrow” hood over a false
Tudor-arched front entrance.

Conclusion
Each of these venerable community
institutions deserves our attention for
the vital social niche they have filled.
Each tells part of the unique develop-
ment and history of Fort Lauderdale,
South Florida and the black commu-
nity over the past 100 years. Though
. many of these churches may  lack
some of the grandeur of wealthier churches locally and else-
where, they accurately reflect the desires of the African-
American community to sustain viable houses of worship and
acknowledge traditional religious architectural traditions while
adapting them to the limited economic circumstances of the
time and place they were created.

The continued success of these seven churches helps carry
forward the historic legacy of the African-American communi-
ty in the development of the region. Preserving these seven reli-
gious buildings and their congregations is nothing less than
preserving the soul within the heart of black Fort
Lauderdale.~SFH

Christopher R. Eck is the administrator of the Broward County Historical Commission
and the Broward County Historic Preservation Officer. He previously served as the exec-
utive director of the Miami-Dade County Office of Historic Preservation.

Photographs on the following pages.

Pg. 32—The setting sun radiates through the decorative fretwork of the old
Mount Olive Baptist Church steeple. Pg. 33—The unpretentious front facade
of Saint Luke Baptist Church, the last of the first seven churches to be organized.
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History in the Making
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The Free Trade Areas of the Americas Conference (FTAA) was held in Miami on November 17-19, 2003.
Sixteen representatives from 34 countries in the Western Hemisphere, with the exception of Cuba, convened at the
Intercontinental Hotel in downtown Miami for ongoing discussions on the creation of a tariff-free trade zone from
Alaska to Argentina by 2005.

During the meetings, thousands of protesters from around the world gathered in the city to oppose the formation
of the FTAA. Protesters included representatives from environmental, labor, consumer, farm, students and retirees
groups. These groups felt that the borderless economy that the FTAA promotes will place corporate profits ahead of
worker well-being and environmental standards. Clashes with the police led to over 200 arrests. Life in the sur-
rounding areas practically came to a halt as businesses were shuttered, offices closed, traffic diverted and metrorail
and metromover services disrupted.

The conference ended with representatives reaching a broad agreement that gives member nations the option of
participating at their own pace in the negotiations. The trade and foreign ministers also reaffirmed their commitment
to further prosperity and economic growth throughout the hemisphere, within a framework that respects and values

cultural diversity.



Clockwise, top left to right—DProtesters heading towards the Hotel Intercontinental carried a giant white dove
to represent peace. Two officers stand by as protesters enter Downtown Miami. Protesters march down 1st
Ave. Protesters pass by a McDonald’s. A protester wears a dolphin hat in support of animal and environmen-

tal rights. Police stood guard around Miami Dade Community College. Photographs courtesy of Sonia Ortiz.
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The members of the Historical Museum are a unique community of individuals that

support the past & invest in the future with their membership gift

Fellow Humanitarian

Mr. & Mrs. Benjamin B. Battle, Jr.
Mr. & Mrs. Peter L. Bermont

Mr. & Mrs. William A. Graham
Mr. & Mrs. William D. Soman
Mr. & Mrs. Robert H. Traurig

Fellow Benefactor

Mr. & Mrs. Gregory M. Cesarano
Mr. & Mirs. Alvah H. Chapman, Jr.
Mrs. Edna Cox

Miss Lamar Louise Curry

Mr. Walter R. Ferguson

Dr. & Mrs. Joseph H. Fitzgerald
Mr. & Mrs. Jerrold F. Goodman
Mr. & Mrs. Tom Huston, Jr.
Ms. Linda S. Lubitz

Mr. Finlay L. Matheson

Mrs. Betty McCrimmon

Mrs. Nancy McLamore

Mr. & Mrs. David Mesnekoff
Mr. & Mrs. William T. Muir
Dr. & Mrs. John C. Nordt, I1I
Dr. & Mrs. Robert M. Oliver, Jr.
Mr. & Mrs. Preston L. Prevatt
Dr. & Mrs. T. Hunter Pryor, Jr.
Mr. & Mrs. Gerald E. Toms

Mr. & Mrs. J. Calvin Winter
Ms. Jody M. Wolfe

Mr. & Mrs. David Younts

Dr. & Mrs. Howard L. Zwibel

Fellow Patron

Mr. Benjamin Bohlmann &
Ms. Ellen Kanner

Ms. Beryl L. Cesarano

Mr. & Mrs. Carlton W. Cole

Mr. & Mrs. William G. Earle

Dr. & Mrs. Albert J. Ehlert

Mr. Samuel D. La Roue, Jr.

Mr. & Mrs. Jay W. Lotspeich

Mr. & Mrs. Jack Lowell

Mr. & Mrs. D. R. Mead, Jr.

Dr. & Mrs. Michael Rosenberg

Ms. Phyllis A. Shapiro

Mr. & Mrs. George R. Shelley

Mr. & Mrs. Edward A. Swakon

Mr. Monty P. Trainer

Mr. & Mrs. James A. Wright, III

Fellow Member

Mr. & Mrs. Carlos J. Arrizurieta
Mr. & Mrs. Robert B. Battle

Mr. & Mrs. Steve Benson

Mr. Samuel J. Boldrick

Mr. & Mrs. J. Andrew Brian

Mr. & Mrs. Eric Buermann

Mr. & Mrs. Dennis M. Campbell
Mr. & Mrs. Jorge Cano

Mr. & Mrs. Barton Corredera
Mr. Robert David & Dr. Lorette David
Mr. & Mrs. Hunting F. Deutsch
Mr. Richard W. Ebsary

Dr. & Mrs. Lawrence M. Fishman
Mr. & Mrs. Gustavo Godoy

Mr. & Mrs. Michael Goldberg
Mr. & Mrs. Robert C. Hector, Jr.
Mr. & Mrs. Louis J. Hester

Mr, & Mrs. William Ho

Mr. & Mrs. William Holly

Mr. & Ms. Charles Intriago

Mr. & Mrs. Lewis M. Kanner
Mr. & Mrs. Mark Karris
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Dr. Vincent M. Kelly
Mr. & Mrs. Dean C. Klevan
Mr. R. Kirk Landon
Mr. & Mrs. Marc H. Launer
Mr. & Mrs. Lewis J. Levey
Mr. Lawrence Levine
M. Bruce C. Matheson
Mr. & Mrs. Arsenio Milian
Mr. & Mirs. Randy F. Nimnicht
Mr. Manuel Nogueira &

Ms. Cuqui Beguiristain
Dr. & Mrs. Edmund I. Parnes
Mr. & Mrs. James C. Robinson
Mr. & Mrs. Will Sekoff
Dr. & Mrs. Stanley Shapiro
Ms. Ellen Uguccioni
Ms. Nancy B. White
Mr. & Mis. Richard A, Wood

Benefactor
Mr. Jonathan Blum &
Ms. P. Ramsey Sullivan
Mr. & Mrs. Charles G. Grentner
Mr. Walter Scott Murphy
and Ms. Hazel Rothfeld-Goldman

Sponsor

Mr. & Mrs. Mario J. Artecona
Mr. Roger S. Baskes

Mrs. Joe Ann Batcheller

Ms. Bernard Blanck

Ms. Judith A. Bolanos

Ms. Caridad Carmona Perez
Mr. Charles D. Carter

Mr. & Mrs. Ignacio Coello
Mr. Dennis Edwards & Mr. Mark Steinberg
Ms. Dorothy W. Graham

Mr. & Mrs. Larry Jacobson
Mr. Andres Jimenez

Ms. Susanne Kayyali

Mr. & Mrs. John MacDonald
Mr. Ray Marchman

Dr. Dignora Martinez

Ms. Eneida Martinez

Mr. Ricardo Mayo

Ms. Gloria Mesa

Mr. & Mrs. Robert Norris
Mr. Robert Olemberg

Ms. Carmen Oquendo

Dr. & Mrs. Omar Pasalodos
Ms. Rosa Perdroso

Ms. Olimpia Pons

M:s. Jacqueline Riley

Mr. Thomas L. Robison

Mr. & Mrs. Ernesto S. Rodriguez
Mr. David W. Swim

Ms. Julieta N. Valls

Mr. Brad Williamson

Ms. Melinda Woskow

Donor

Mr. Doug Brocker

Ms. Cristina Coronel

Ms. Diane Dorick

Mr. Alex Gilson

Ms. Susan Klock

Mr. & Mrs. Lawrence G. Zagray

Tropee Family

Ms. Eva Arronte

Mr. & Mrs. Raciel Badell

Mr. & Mrs. Bruce Baldwin

Mr. & Mrs. Tommy Balzebre
Mr. & Mrs. William E. Beckham

Mr. Michael Brooks & Ms. Gigi Olah
Mr. & Mis. Patrick Campbell
Mr. & Mrs. Alex Diaz
Mr. James Doten & Ms. Julien Yuan
Mis. Alice J. Evans
M. Christopher Fulton
Mr. & Mrs. Seth Gadinsky
Mr. & Mrs. Michael George
Dr. Ronald Hagen
Mr. Daniel Herran &
Ms. Maria San-emeterio
Ms. Shirley A. Jackson
M. Jorge Armenteros &
Ms. Liselott Johnsson
M. & Mrs. Neal Kingsbury
M. Adrain Lechter & Ms. Sandra Terbonne
Ms. Melissa Lotus
Mr. & Mrs. Fred Macia
Dr. & Mrs. Michael Marmesh
Ms. Enid Miguez
Mr. & Mirs. Mehrdad Nadji
Mr. James Orovitz
Mr. Constantino Papadopulos &
Ms. Rocio Gallastequi
Ms. Maria Elena B. Richardson
Mr. & Mrs. Julio Sandoval
Mr. Gardo Gomez & Ms. Christina Sherry
Mr. & Mrs. Glen Simmons
M. Daniel E. Smith
M. & Mrs. Nick W. Stieglitz
M. Stuart Weiss & Mrs. Roxane Weiss
Mr. & Mrs. Rhys Williams
Mr. Trae Williamson & Mr. Daniel Carter
Dr. Frederic J. Witkin

Family

Mr. & Mirs. Nathan Adler

Mr. James Adt & Ms. Pat Donovan
Ms. Susan Agia’

Mr. Tom Albano

Ms. Terry Alfonso

Dr. Donald Gerlock & Ms. Judy Anderson
Ms. Tighe Anderson

Mr. Graham Andrew

Mr. & Mrs. Charles Angell

Ms. Vivian Antunez

Mr. & Mirs. Edward M. Archer
Mr. & Mrs. Frederick J. Arnold
Mr. John Bennett & Ms. Lorna Atkins
Mr. & Mrs. Jeffrey Austin

Mr. & Mrs. Manfred A. Bahr

Ms. Celeste Bak

Mr. & Mrs. Ted Baker

Mr. & Mrs. Robert Baldwin

Mr. & Mrs. Henry Ballate

Mr. & Mis. Russ T. Barber

Mr. & Mrs. Stephen Barker

Ms. Beverly Barnett Allen

Mr. & Mrs. Jon Batchelor

Mr. & Mrs. Michael Bates

Mr. Harold Becker

Ms. Lawren Bellamy

Mr. & Mrs. Claudio Benedi

Ms. Flora S. Benitez

Mr. Ronald Berding & Ms. Geri Diaz
Mr. & Mrs. Niels Berger

Mr. & Mis. Arthur Bernard

Ms. Eileen Bicaba

Mr. & Mrs. Chuck Blanchard

Mr. & Mrs. Jose Blanco

Ms. Pam Blattner

Mr. & Mrs. Juan Carlos Blineau

Mr. Robert Bolt
Mr. & Mrs. Greg Bond
Mr. David Bonner & Ms. Liana Saenz
Mes. Jacqueline A. Botill
M. Steve Immasche & Ms. Dorene Bradley
Mr. & Mrs. Michael Bratz
Ms. Patty Brower
Mr. Robert K. Brownell
Mr. & Mrs. Herbert H. Bryan
Mr. & Mrs. Martin Calano
Mr. & Mirs. Allen G. Caldwell
Mr. Brian Call &
Ms. Laura Newton-Lobdell
Mr. Julio Calle
Mr. & Mrs. Humberto J. Calzada
M:s. Jane Caporelli
Mr. Oscar Carrazana &
Mrs. Conchita Carrazana
Mr. Hodding Carter & Ms. Patricia Derian
Ms. Marlen Cepero
Mr. & Mis. Carlos Cheesman
Dr. & Mrs. Jim Cimera
Mr. & Mrs. Don Clark
Mr. Rafael Cohen
Mr. & Mis. Steven Cole
Mr. & Mirs. Gary Collins
Ms. Roxana Colongo
Mr. & Mrs. Fred W. Colucci
Ms. Sally Conaty
Mr. & Mrs. Richard Congdon
Mr. Stanley Rubenfeld &
Ms. Madeline Conway
Dr. Jorge Coronado &
Ms. Maria Eugenia Nunez
Ms. Martha Corvea
Mr. & Mrs. Paul Cotner
Mr. John L. Couriel
Mr. & Mrs. William G. Crawford
Ms. Adelle Cregan i
Mr. Samuel Danon & Ms. Lucy Minchan
Mr. & Mrs. George David
Mr. & Mrs. John Davies
Ms. Winifred S. Davis
Mr. & Mrs. Jorge L. de Cardenas
Mr. & Mrs. Raul de la Campa
Ms. Ana De la Torre
Mr. & Mrs. Javier Del Rio
M. Francisco L. del Valle
Mrs. Mary Ellen Devine &
Ms. Colleen Mosel
Mr. & Mrs. David Dewitt
Mr. Juan Diaz
Mr. & Mrs. Fred Dion
Mr. & Mrs. Ed Donaldson
Mr. Kevin M. Dougherty
Mr. & Mrs. William Downs
Mr. & Mrs. Norman Duncan
Ms. Barbara Dundee
Mr. Michael Karl & Ms. Sharon Elliot
Mr. Charles Elsesser
Ms. Annie Facey
Mr. & Mirs. Charles E. Fancher, Jr.
Ms. Hilda M. Fernandez
Ms. Isabel M. Fernandez
Mr. & Mrs. Jose S. Fernandez
Mr. Jose Fernandez de Castro
Mr. & Mrs. Frank Ferraro
Ms. Jean Ferris
Mr. Steve Malagodi & Ms. Tracy Fields
Ms. Betty Filgueira
Ms. Gianina Finamore
Mr. & Mrs. James Fish




Mr. Allen Fogel & Ms. Lynn Fogel-Paltell
Ms. Mary Foreman &
Ms. Kathryn Foreman
Mr. Orlando Fortun & Ms. Isis Aquino
Mr. & Mrs. Ronald Fraizer
Mr. & Mrs. Lewis Freeman
Judge & Mirs. Ronald Friedman
Ms. Ramona Frischman
Mr. & Mrs. Carlos Martin
Mr. Roger D. Fuentes
Mr. & Mrs. Thomas Fuhrman
Mr. & Mrs. Mike Gaines
Mr. & Mrs. Emilio Garcia
Mr. & Mrs. Gonzalo Garcia
Mr. Santiago Garcia & Mrs. Jan Burlinson
Mr. & Ms. Tony Garcia
Mr. Joseph George & Mrs. Elena Herrera
Mr. & Mrs. Samuel Getz
Ms. Barbara Gillman
Mr. & Mrs. Mark Gilmore
Mr. & Mrs. Dale Glasco
Mr. & Ms. John Glass
Mr. William T. Golden
Mr. Scott Lewis & Ms. Billie Jan Goldtein
Mr. & Mrs. Charles Gomes
Mr. & Mrs. Alvaro Gonzalez
Mr. Jon Sorensen & Ms. Astrid Gonzalez
Mr. & Mrs. Faustino Gonzalez
Mr. Luis Gonzalez & Ms. Yolanda Gamboa
M. Sergio Gonzalez & Ms. Ines Marrero
Ms. Julie Gouldener
Mr. Kevin Graver & Mr. Orlando Valdez
Mr. Frederick Newman &
Ms. Sharon Grosshart
Dr. Ronald Hagen
Mr. Jeff Harbook
Ms. Lanell Harrison & Ms. Norma Wingo
Mr. Alberto Hernandez
Mr. & Mr. Carl Hersh
Ms. Carol Hoffman
Ms. Cynthia Hori
Mr. Gary Hunt & Ms. Linda Vanleer
Mr. & Mis. Jay Jackaway
Mr. & Mrs. Ed Jackowitz
Ms. Terry Jacobs
Mr. & Mrs. T.M. Jacobsen
Mr. & Mrs. Scott Jay
Mirs. Mary D. Jenkins
Ms. Joyce Johnson
Mr. Douglas Jolly
Mr. & Mrs. Michael Joyce
Ms. Sonia Jung
Mrs. Sue Kaye-Martin
Mr. & Mrs. Edward Keith
Mr. & Mrs. Norman Kelleher
Mr. Mark Hedden & Ms. Nancy Klingener
Ms. Jenny Knight
Ms. Patricia Knox
Mr. & Mrs. Jeffery Kramer
Ms. Dorothy Lancaster
Mr. Rick Hirsch & Ms. Robin Landors
Mr. & Mrs. Chris Landsea
Ms. Corinne Lang-Verano
Mr. & Mrs. Marshall Langer
Mr. Mike Paluch &
Ms. Karen Langhauser
Mr. William Larzelere
Mr. & Mrs. Tom Layman
Ms. Olga Lazo
Mr. Marc Sternbaum &
Ms. Susan Leaventon
Mr. & Mrs. Brian E. Lee
Mr. & Mrs. Eric Levin
Mr. Oscar Levin
Ms. Ann Liebla
Dr. & Mrs. Martin E. Liebling
Mr. & Mrs. Dan Lincoln
Mr. & Mrs. Gary Lindsay
Mr. Nicholas Linfield
Mr. & Mrs. James Love
Mr. & Mrs. Yaly Luna
Mr. & Mrs. David Lysinger
Ms. Josefina Machado

Mr. & Mirs. Richard M. Mahoney

M. Ken Marquis & Mr. Michael Chetta
Ms. Ana Marrero

Ms. Alba Martinez

Mr. & Mrs. Edward M. Mathieu

Mr. & Mrs. Thomas Matkov

Mr. & Mrs. Thomas Maxwell

Mr. David Mayer & Ms. B. Laurel Casey
Ms. Roxann Mayros

Mr. & Mrs. Charles Mays

Mr. & Mrs. Don McClune

Ms. Jane McCraw-Mongul

Mr. & Mrs. John E. McCulloch

Mr. & Mrs. Carlos McDonald

Mr. & Mrs. Ralph E. McGinnis

Ms. Beth McLaughlin

Mr. & Mrs. Fernando G. Mendoza

Mr. Johnathan Ullman & Ms. Blanca Mesa
Ms. Gwyn Michel

~ Mr. & Mrs. Gordon Miller

Ms. Lori Mohr & Ms. Hope Mohr

Ms. Ernestine Monroe

Mr. Robert Morison & Ms. Lynne Barrett
Mr. John Powers & Ms. Joan Morris

Ms. Mary Munroe & Mr. Bruce Seabrook
Mr. & Mrs. Jim Murton

Mr. & Mrs. Victor Nenclares

Mr. Robert Newmann & Ms. Jeannie Romero
Mr. & Mrs. Edward Nolan

Ms. Rebecca Novo

Ms. Barbara J. O’Connel

Ms. Jo Ann O’Neill

Mr. & Mrs. Jerry Ontiveros

Mr. & Mrs. Sergio Pagliery

Mr. & Mrs. David Palmer

Mr. Paul W. Parcell

Mr. Joseph E Patrouch

Mr. & Mrs. David Payne

Mr. & Mrs. Alexander Paz

Mr. Frank L. Perrulli

Dr. & Mrs. Jerry Pinnas

Mr. & Mrs. Fred Pollack

Mr. & Mrs. William R. Polson

Ms. Teresa Pooler

Ms. Jeanne Potter

Mr. & Mrs. Rick Preira

Mr. & Mrs. Antonio Priscal

Mrs. Adrienne E Promoff

Mr. Joaquin Pujol & Ms. Aida Barana
Mr. Frank Quebbemann & Mr. Hector Mesa
Mr. & Mrs. Henry Raattama

Mr. & Mrs. Bob Ratiner

Mr. James Brock & Ms. Gerri Reaves

Ms. Ann Redt

Mr. & Mrs. Darius Reid

Mr. Keith Reilly

Mr. & Mrs. Camillo Ricordi

Mr. Mark Bonaparte & Dr. Dorothy A. Rider
Mr. & Mrs. Alex Rivero

Ms. Grisell C. Rivero

Mr. & Mrs. Ricky Rodriguez

Mr. & Mrs. James P. Roen

Mr. Richard Roetz & Ms. Susan Roetz
Mr. & Mrs. Frank Rollason

Mr. & Mrs. Alfredo Romagosa

Mr. & Mrs. Ernesto Romero

Ms. Marcia Rosenberg

Ms. Fredlyn Rosenfeld

Ms. Julie Ruben

Mr. & Mis. Bill Rutherford

Dr. Luis Sanchez

Mr. & Mrs. Randy Scarberry

Capt. & Mirs. John Scarborough

Mr. & Mrs. Horace Scherer

Dr. & Mrs. Paul Schumacher

Ms. Caridad Serrano & Ms. Nuria Serrano
Mr. & Mrs. Francis X. Sexton, Jr.

Mr. Stuart Newman & Ms. Sandy Sharp
Mr. William Kneeland & Ms. Audrey Sicilia
Ms. Helga Silva

M. Bernard Silver & Ms. Susan Werth
Mr. Scott Silverman

Dr. & Mrs. Steven A. Simon

Mr. & Mrs. Johnathan Skipp

Mr. & Mrs. Harry B. Smith

Mr. & Mrs. Robert G. Smith
Ms. Lydia A. Solernou

Mr. John Spielman & Mr. Jerold Knight
Ms. Martha M. Stobs

Mr. & Mrs. Sandy Stover

Ms. Alison Strachan & Ms. Kathy Barber
Ms. Stella Stutz

Ms. Sandy Subject

Mr. & Mrs. Clifford L. Suchman
Ms. Lynn M. Summers

Ms. Maria Luisa Taleno

Mr. & Mrs. John Thornton

Mr. & Mrs. George Tobolowsky
Mr. & Mrs. Douglas S. Tyre

Mr. & Mrs. Robert S. Tyre

Mr. & Mrs. Terrance Underwood
Mr. Rolando Valdes

Mr. & Mrs. Gustavo Valle

Ms. Ana L. van Gilst

Mr. & Mrs. Antony Van Smith
Mr. & Mrs. Manuel G. Vera

Mr. Roberto Vizcon

Mr. & Mrs. Richard Waas

Ms. Susan Walcutt

Mr. & Mrs. Daniel Wall

Ms. Tracey Walters

Mr. & Mrs. Stanley Waters

Ms. Michelle Weber

Mr. & Mrs. James Weidener

Mr. & Mrs. Daniel A. Weiss

Mr. Evan Marks & Ms. Carolyn West
Mr. & Mrs. Joe Wieselberg

Mr. Anthony Williams

Mr. Shawn Williams

Mr. Gordon Winslow

Dr. Frederic J. Witkin

Mr. Mike Worley

Mr. & Mrs. James G. Worth

Ms. Phyllis Wright

Mr. & Mrs. Steve Wright

Mr. & Mrs. Mark Yaeger

Mr. & Mrs. Mario Yanez, Sr.

Mr. William Yardley

Mr. David Yoblicka & Ms. Marilyn Volker
Mr. & Mrs. Alfred Zeledon

Mr. Chi Zhang & Ms. Dongmei Han
Mr. Joseph T. Zibelli

Mr. & Mrs. Craig A. Zimmett

Tropee Individual
Ms. Brigitte Adams
Ms. Alixa Alvarez

Mr. Jose Antonio Arcila
Ms. Nicoletta Ascari
Ms. Maria Bale

Ms. Carol Bell

Mr. Stephen Bittel
Ms. Pilar Bretos

Mr. Alan Brown

Ms. Julia C. Brown
Mr. Jose Collazo

Mr. Jeffrey Cook

Ms. Alexis Cooper
Ms. Camilla Corbitt
Mr. Jorge Corrales
Ms. Lourdes Couce Padron
Ms. Liz Deladecana
Ms. Donna Delgado
Mr. Dan Desmond
Ms. Sabylizst Diaz
Mr. Scort Diffenderfer
Mr. Craig Downs

Mr. Thomas Dye

Ms. Monica Eichmann
Ms. Kirrin Emary

Ms. Maria R. Estorino
Mr. David Evensky
Mr. James Ezrine

Mr. Kevin Fine

Mr. Karl Fitzgerald

Mr. Peter Fullerton

Mr. Phil C. Gallagher
Ms. Lori Goldstein

Ms. Michele J. Gonzales
Mr. Peter Halpern

Ms. Sarah Hammill

Ms. Abbey Hand

Mr. John H. Holly

Ms. Leah Jackson

Ms. Wendy Jacobs

Ms. Alise Johnson

Mr. Robert L. Kirstein
Mr. Carl Kruse

Mr. Michael W. Larkin
Ms. Elizabeth Leeds
Ms. Grace C. Lopez
Ms. Christina Lunsford
Mr. Marc Manfredi

Mr. John Mezquia

Mr. Miguel Nunez

Mr. George Papazikos
Ms. Natasha N. Parekh
Ms. Marci Philbin

Mr. Richard A. Powers
Mr. Alexis Prisendorf
Mr. Alex M. Ramo

Mr. Raul Rebenga

M. Philip Reilly

Ms. Mary Reyes

Ms. Liza Riso

Ms. Mary Ritchey

Ms. Ivette M. Rodriguez
M:s. Joely Rodriguez
Ms. Vivian Rodriguez
Ms. Monica Ronan

Ms. Ivonne Roque

Mr. Ronald Schaeger
Mr. Brad Schmier

Mr. Gary Schumann
Ms. Jolie M. Skorman
Ms. Tracy Slaven

Ms. Tracy Slavens

Mr. Campbell A. Smith
Ms. Joy Spill

Mr. John Steele

Mr. Joseph S. Stewart
Mr. James Teeple

Mr. Jerry-Max Theophile
Mr. Adam Thompson
Ms. Sally Timberlake i
Mr. Kurt A. Von Gonten .
Mr. Matthew Whitman Lazenby
Mr. Roy Winchell

M. Bruce Woolley

Individual

Ms. Elena Acosta

Ms. Lorraine Albert Berger
Mr. Luis Alvarez

Mr. Jim Anderson

Ms. Patricia Andreotia
Mr. Gary Appel

Mr. Jorge Arrizurieta
Ms. Nancy Ashe

Mr. Anthony D. Atwood
Ms. Elaine August

Mr. Herb Balfour

Ms. Joanne Baran

Ms. Patricia D. Bass

Mr. Michael W. Battle
Mr. Patrick T. Battle

Ms. Dianne H. Baugh
Ms. Kathy Beckman

Mr. Patrick Bell

Ms. Ines Bernal

Mr. Wayne Besley

Ms. Georgiana Bethel
Mr. Tom Bodiker

Ms. Maryellen Bowen
Ms. Virginia M. Bradford
Dr. Miguel A. Bretos
Mr. Heriberto Brito

Ms. Beatriz Bru
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Ms. Shirley Carico

Mr. Miguel Caridad
Mr. Rodolfo J. Cepero
Ms. Kathy L. Cerminara
Ms. Laura N. Chaifetz
Ms. Ann |. Chambers
Ms. Linda Chapin

Ms. Ofelia Cherlo

Ms. Sylvia Cherry

Ms. Betty R. Ciaffone
Mr. Carl Cira

Ms. Marjorie E Clark
Ms. Carrie Cleland

Ms. Rebecca Conable
Mr. Carlos A. Cordova
Mr. Carl Craig

Mr. Mike Cregan

Ms. Hope Crowell

Mr. Joe Crowley

Mr. Garland Culbreath
Ms. Diane C. Damskey
Ms. Teresa Davant

Ms. Linda Davis

Mr. Scott Davis

Ms. Cindy S. De Rothschild
Mr. Juan A. de Zarraga
Ms. Jeanne Dee

Ms. Mary Dempsey
Ms. Marie Denis

Mr. David Doheny

Mr. Jon Duquette

Ms. Ellen M. Dyer

Mr. Luis Espinoza

Mrs. Katherine W. Ezell
Ms. Marilyn Feldman
Mr. Victor Fernandez
Mr. Wilson Fernandez
Ms. Lily Forni

Ms. Lysa M. Friedlieb
Mr. Joel Friedman

Mr. Loren Gallo

Ms. Clary Garcia

Mr. Sergio Garcia Granados
Ms. Carol Garvin

Mr. Daniel Gautier

Mr. Zach Gerger

Mr. Premel Gilles

Ms. Irma Godinez-Bayona

Mr. Joao Felipe Goncalves
Ms. Roberta H. Gordon
Mr. Gregg P. Guilford
Ms. Mary Gulledge

Ms. Maria B. Gutierrez
Dr. Sarah S. Hagan

Ms. Judi S. Hamelburg
Dr. Gina Harris

Mr. William C. Harrison
Ms. Carol J. Helene

Ms. Guadalupe Hernandez
Ms. Irene Hernandez
Mr. Luis Hernandez

Mr. Floyd E. Hinkley, Sr.
Mes. Jennifer Holderman
Mis. Barbara Hollinger
Ms. Jeanette Holmes

Mr. Arthur E Humphrey
Mr. Dean Hundley

Mr. Scott Hutchinson
Ms. Joan Ingerman

Ms. Esther B. Irigoyen
Ms. Maria Jaramillo

Mr. Louis M. Jepeway, Jr.
Ms. Susan Juszkiewicz
Ms. Joan Keller-Thompson
Mr. Frederic King

Ms. Em 1. Kuker

Ms. Linda Lambert

Ms. Marlene Land

Mr. Jess S. Lawhorn

Mr. Abe Levy

Mr. J. Nelson Lewis

Ms. Marlene E Lieb

Ms. Laura Linardi

Mr. Tod Londess

M. Lisset Lopez

Dr. Joan Lutton

Mr. Stewart Marcus

Ms. Maria E. Margolles
Mr. Juan Martinez

Mr. Charles Maxwell

Mr. Kelly McCammon
Ms. Anne McCrary Sullivan
Mr. William McDonald
Ms. Janet McGahee

Ms. Alice Mckee

Mr. Jay Mechling

Ms.
Ms.
Mr.
. Irm Moller

. Patrice Morales

. Edwin J. Morin

. Ted Moylan

. Emily Moynihan

. Melinda Munger

. Wayne Myers

. Estela Navarrete

. Karin Norlander

. Elmer Olhaber

. Catherine E Ordway
. Maria L. Palacios

. Naomi Papirno

. Richard Parrish

. Lavinia Penna

. Rafael Perez

Mr.
Ms.

Terita Medero
Maria Meilan
Jose Miranda

Robert Petrera
Carolyn A. Pickard

Mrs. Virginia R. Pietro

Ms.
Ms.
Mr.
Mr.
Ms.
Ms.
Mr.
Ms.
Ms.
Ms.
Ms.
. Brenda Rayco

. Phil Reitz

. David L. Renfro

. Sandra Riley

. Luis Rios

. Bob Risting

. Gladys Rodriguez

. E. Margarita Roig

. Debra Rollins

. Yazmina Rosario

. Lori Rosenberg

. Stephen H. Ross

. Donald Sackrider

. Sheila H. Salters

Mr. Omar David Sanchez

Maria E. Pinillos
Cindy Pitt

Jay E Pons

Steve Porter
Miriam Prado
Isabel Puente-Gilbert
David Puittinen
Judith Rabkin
Maria Ramirez
Kissandra Ramos
Rosemary Ravinal

Ms. Lori Schainuck
Mr. Allan Schulman
Mr. Patrick Scott

Ms. Judi Sebastian
Ms. Ellen G. Sessions
Mr. Bruce Shipner
Ms. Margarita Sierra
Ms. Marilyn Simon
Mr. John P. Simons
Mr. William Smith
Mr. Jose Solernou
Ms. Margaret Spencer
Ms. Irene Sperber

Dr. Chris Stabile

Ms. Linda Stein

Ms. Carie Stern

Mr. Emilio Suarez
Mr. Ronald S. Swanson
Ms. Carole Ann Taylor
Ms. Polly Thompson
Mr. John C. Van Leer
Ms. Norma Villafana
Ms. Isabel Villalon

Mes. Arlene Villarubia-Hidalgo

Ms. Linda Waltz

Mr. Harold Wasserbech
Mr. Steve Waters

Mr. Jack Wayman

Mr. Garth Webster

Mr. Glen Weinzimer
Mr. Alan Weisberg

Ms. Anne Werner

Mr. David White

Dr. Richard A. Whittington

Ms. Kathryn Wilbur
Mr. Richard Williams
Ms. Brenda S. Wolcott
Robert V. Wolfe, Esq.
Ms. Wendy Wood

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Charles H. Yatman
Jerold Young
Nickolas Zeinka

Institution
The National Museum of the Bahamas
Troy Community Academy

The preceding is not a complete list of our membership. The individuals listed above made a new membership gift at all levels or
continued their support at the Fellows levels from the dates of April 1, 2002 through November 11, 2003.

If you would like to make a change to the listing of your name please contact the membership coordinator at 305.375.1492.

FIAY O vusicians

fi

BRAVO!

Add a touch of class to
your special event.

Sophisticated ‘Entertainment
provided by the versatile ensembles
of "Bravo Musicians'.

Classical and Popular selections
to satisfy every taste.

Phone: 305-598-2963
Fax:  305-598-2484
members.aol.com/BravoMiami

narLEs Group Hotrrs
My Ao e 5t

With Five Flagged Ocean Front Resorts

4333 Collins Avenue

Miami Beach, FL 33140
TEL: 305-538-1938

FAX: 305-538-2025

Email: vlorie@cghcorp.com
www.charlesgrouphotels.com

38




Historical Museum of Southern Florida’s

Eleventh Annual

le@kiﬂ { the de {

with the ‘Tuture

Golf Classic & Silent Auction

Wednesday, May 26, 2004
Biltmore Hotel & Golf Course

12-1 pm Luncheon & Pre-tournament Activities

1 pm  Shotgun start
5:30 pm  Cockrails & Silent Auction Preview

6 pm  Silent Auction

For more information on sponsorship opportunities, foursomes and/or auction
tickets contact Edith Barahona at 305.375.1492 or e-mail

fundraising@historical-museum.org

Save the date!
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GENERAL CONTRACTORS

"WHATEVER IT TAKES"

WWW . FALKEINC.COM

305-536-1111

You can make

history by

The Bermont Group
Salomon Smith Barney | sponsoring an
Peter L. Bermont Richard B. Bermont Audubon bird.
Senior Vice President - Investments Senior Vice President - Investments
Senior Portfolio Manager Senior Portfolio Manager
Adam E. Carlin All proceeds go to

irst Vice Presi - Investments
F Vice President - Investments e enai hidorieit.

One Southeast 3rd Avenue, Suite 2950, Miami, FL 33131
(305) 577-1100

(305) 577-1102

(800) 327-4607 y ;
For information,

. call Marcia Kanner,
SALOMON SMITH BARNEY Endowment Officer at
Amember of C|t|grouﬁT 305.375. 1492

©2002 Salomon Smith Barney Inc. Member SIPC. Salomon Smith Barney is a registered service mark of Salomon Smith Barney Inc.
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For more informati

V4

STEAKHOUSE

The Alexander Hotel
5225 Collins Ave.
Miami Beach, F1 33140
Phone: 305.341.6565
Fax: 305.341.6548
E-mail: CyrilN@alexanderhotel.com
www.donshula.com

1
FRoOM THE DEsSK OF BoOB

At FPL, we know that our real power comes
from our diverse mix of people.

FPL is proud to support the Historical
Museum of Southern Florida for preserving
our diverse heritage.

Y

EPL

www.FPL .com an FPL Group company
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"~ DINNER SPE

THE MOST
FELEGANT AND AFFORDABLE
DINING DOWNTOWN

MALS NIORTIY )

e Pre Show Dining and Cocktails with Full Bar
e 2 Blocks from the Gusman Center
 Parking Right Next Door
e Across From Miami-Dade Courthouse

LA LOGGIA

RISTORANTE & LOUNGE

tfPrime Italian Fare... Classy"
- Rating Very Good.
4 Miami Herald

W. FLAGLER ST

- DownrowN Miamr

305-373-4800

- OrpeN Luncu & Dinver

& Take-out  DELIVERY L CATERING &

MICHAEL N. ROSENBERG, D.D.S., M.S.D.

Orthodontics/Adults & Children

EBl@byaling 25 yours of Leaulijul smlos

LENNAR MEDICAL CENTER = 8740 N. Kendall Drive » Miami, Florida 33176
Telephone 305-274-3113 « Fax 305-271-3640

P Vo1

A
N WOUSE PRODUCTIO _—

DJ’s “
ol C WiLLIAM PENN HOUSE NS (arcoke
. Enfertainment Specialist Dancers
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Romias 9172 N.W. 41 Manor Catering

Photography Coral Springs. FL 33065 Videography

H. & H. JEWELS

“Fine Jewelry Designs”

3138 Commodore Plaza #8
Coconut Grove, Florida 33133
(305) 442-9760
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Gourmet Baskets  Fruit Shipping
1-800-776-2668

16115 S.W. 117 Ave. #10 (305) 233-2668
Miami, FL 33157 Fax: (305) 255-1978

Experience Mango’'s worldwide

On-line stove s music s drinks ¢ foods recipes ¢ videos ¢ pictures © much more

www.mangostropicalcafe.com
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Not just REPORTING..

Not just COVERING..

Not just PUBLISHING..

8969-4

..but REPRESENTING.

..but CARING.

.but PARTICIPATING.

For 100 years, The Miami Herald has worked to make South Florida a better
place for people to live, work and play.

Whether through our own reporting, our employees’ community involvement

or our support of great institutions like the Historical Museum of South Florida,
our goal is to help South Florida thrive and prosper.

Ehe Miami Herald

Celebrating A Century Together

Historical Museum of Southern Florida

Tropical Explorers Spl’ing Break

‘_4 Camp Cagtaway

In conjunction with the present exhibit Shipwrecks and Rescues,
March 29 to Ap ril 2 1550?000’ this fu.n and equcational weeklong camp will .b.e an
experience your children will treasure for a long time. Activities
9 am to 5 pm include arts and crafts, story telling about exciting chapters in
Ty g g chap
South Florida’s maritime history, scavenger hunts and much

Register by March 15 no

and receive $10 OFF It’s the ideal Spring Break camp for boys and girls ages 6 to 12.
your registration fee!

Fees  HMSEFE members $90* Non-members $100* ' For information & registration, call 305.375.1628

*Fee includes field trip, T-shirt and daily snack. Campers must bring lunch.

SOUTH FLORIDA HISTORY 43



Shipwrecks

Rescues

February 27-June 6

An exhibition at Historical Museum of Southern Florida
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